THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001449
Case No. 2018-CP-32-000079

Flint Equipment Company, Respondent,
v.

North Edisto Logging, Inc. and Paul Gunter, Appellants.

RECEIVED

DEC 13 2018

SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

December 13, 2018

D. Randolph Whitt
Fleming & Whitt, P.A.
S.C. Bar No. 13068
344 Blossom View Ct.
West Columbia, SC 29170
(803) 422-2176 Tel
dwhitt2001@aol.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT A BREACH OF THE IMPLIED DUTY OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING IS ONLY ACTIONABLE IF THERE IS ALSO A BREACH OF AN EXPRESS TERM OF THE CONTRACT?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANTS' WERE REQUIRED TO PLEAD THEIR READINESS TO PERFORM WHEN THAT PERFORMANCE WAS EXCUSED BY RESPONDENT'S PRIOR BREACH?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANTS' CLASS ACTION CLAIMS BEFORE ANY DISCOVERY HAD BEEN CONDUCTED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced by the Respondent's filing of a Summons and Complaint on July 2, 2018.(R. p. 8) Appellant served an Answer and Counterclaims alleging respondent had breached the implied duty of good faith under several contracts (R. p. 22)

Respondent has not served a Reply to the Counterclaims. Rather, Respondent filed a motion to dismiss(R. p. 34) Appellant filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion (R. p. 44).

The Circuit Court granted the motion to dismiss (R. p. 2). A notice of appeal was filed and served (R. p. 46) .

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this Appeal of a ruling under SCRCP Rule 12(b)(6), the following allegations from the counterclaim are deemed to be true:

Respondent tendered an invoice for repairs to Appellants which contained charges that were “inflated and improper”(Answer and Counterclaims ¶ 7 , R. p. 23)

Appellants believed that the repairs were covered by a warranty arising from the credit transaction resulting from the purchase of the unit in question. Respondent did not advise Appellants that they contended that the repairs were not covered until the work had already been done.(Answer and Counterclaims ¶ 6 , R. p. 23)

As a result of Respondent's conduct, Appellants assert no amount is due for the repairs. (Answer and Counterclaims ¶¶ 7, 9, and 10 , R. p. 23)

That in the course of several financing transactions that Respondent has submitted one set of figures to Appellant and inconsistent set of figures to John Deere Financial which was the ultimate lender on these transactions. (Answer and Counterclaims ¶ 12 , R. p. 23)

That in two of these transactions, where an extended warranty was included in the figures provided to Appellant, but excluded from the figures provided to John Deere Financial with the other amounts being increased to keep the total amount the same.(Answer and Counterclaims ¶ 13, R. p. 23)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondent sought dismissal of the counterclaims pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. In ruling on such a motion, the inquiry does not proceed beyond the four corners of the counterclaim. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999) Moreover, the factual allegations of the counterclaim must be deemed to be true for purposes of this motion. The Motion should be denied if the facts stated provide a basis for relief under any theory of the case. *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 5, 522 S.E.2d 137, 139 (1999). Finally, the motion should not be granted solely because of doubts that the claimant will prevail at trial. *Gentry*. 337 S.C. at 5, 522 S.E.2d at 139.

ARGUMENT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT A BREACH OF THE IMPLIED DUTY OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING IS ONLY ACTIONABLE IF THERE IS ALSO A BREACH OF AN EXPRESS TERM OF THE CONTRACT.

In the Motion to Dismiss Respondent relied primarily on *RoTec Services, Inc. v. Encompass Services, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 467, 597S.E. 2d 881 (Ct. App. 2004). However, the trial court found more in the RoTec decision than is there. While RoTec found that there is no special cause of action for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, it does not make the breach of the duty no longer actionable. Rather, it makes clear that violation of the implied term requiring good faith and fair dealing is no different than breach of any of the express terms of the contract. The series of cases cited by the trial court all involve situations where the claimants attempted to advance both a cause of action for breach of contract and a second cause of action for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. Therefore these cases are not dispositive in this matter, in which the Appellants have brought a single cause of action for breach of contract.

The order appealed from contains the following language: “In this case, Defendants did not allege in their counterclaims that Plaintiff breached an express term of the contract. Instead, Defendants’ breach of contract claim is based solely on Plaintiff’s alleged breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. As stated above, under South Carolina law, a cause of action for breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot stand on its own. A breach of the implied covenant can only be alleged if a party’s conduct in breaching the implied covenant is also a breach of the express terms. ” (emphasis added, Order filed July 2, 2018 R. p. __). The trial court’s finding that it is necessary to have violated one of the express terms of the contract in order to make a violation of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing actionable, cannot be sustained.

The trial court's citation of cases such as *Commercial Credit Corp. v. Nelson Motors, Inc.*,

247 S.C. 360, 367, 147 S.E.2d 481, 484 (1966); *Adams v. G.J. Creel & Sons, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 274, 277, 465 S.E.2d 84, 85 (1995). for the proposition that the duty of good faith and fair dealing cannot prohibit conduct that is expressly approved by the terms of the contract has no bearing on this case. Neither the repair contract nor any other contract between the parties contains a provision which expressly authorizes Respondent to include "inflated and improper" charges in their invoices. Likewise the sales contract does not expressly authorize Respondent to provide one set of prices to Appellants, and to provide a different, contradictory set to the ultimate lender who financed the sale.

The Appellants have alleged the existence of a contractual provision, the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. They have alleged conduct which a reasonable jury could conclude violated that duty, i.e. tendering an invoice to the Appellants which contained charges that are "inflated and improper" or providing sales prices to Appellant's. Finally, they have alleged that they suffered damages. See *Pilkington v. McBain*, 274 S.C. 312, 262 S.E. 2d 916(1980). At this stage in the proceeding, that is enough.

ARGUMENT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANTS' WERE REQUIRED TO PLEAD THEIR READINESS TO PERFORM WHEN THAT PERFORMANCE WAS EXCUSED BY RESPONDENT'S PRIOR BREACH.

The Trial court cites *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 487, 514 S.E.2d 126, 135 (1999) and *Parks v. Lyons*, 219 S.C. 40, 48, 64 S.E.2d 123, 126 (1951) for the proposition that Appellants should have plead that they would have performed in the hypothetical situation in which Respondent's had not already breached the repair contract by tendering an inflated and improper invoice. In *Swinton Creek Nursery* there was an admitted breach of the contract in

question, before the alleged breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. Parks did not involve the duty of good faith and fair dealing, but rather an option, which the party alleging breach had previously indicated that he did not intend to exercise his rights under.

Respondent's breach of the repair contract by tendering an inflated and improper invoice excused any further performance by Appellants. Respondent cannot tender an inflated invoice and then impose a duty to guess as to what a fair price might be and then pay, or promise to pay this amount when they are caught behaving improperly. Similarly Respondent's misconduct in the sales transactions excuses further performance on those contracts. Further, Respondent has not identified or alleged any failure of performance due to Respondent in the context of the sales contracts.

Finally, even if such an allegation about what Appellants would have done if they had been presented with a fair invoice is necessary, the Trial Court should have allowed an opportunity for such an amendment to the counterclaims, rather than dismissing solely on a pleading issue, rather than a factual one.

ARGUMENT 3

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLASS ACTION CLAIMS BEFORE ANY DISCOVERY HAD BEEN CONDUCTED.

The Trial Court cites several cases on class action issues including *Gardner v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, Inc.*, 304 S.C. 328, 331, 404 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1991). However, none of these cases are decided at an early stage, such as where the present case sits. The pleadings have not been joined and no discovery has taken place. The factual allegations that any party seeking class certification can make in the absence of discovery are necessarily limited by the party's lack of access to the records that would allow precise pleading about the elements to be considered on the merits of a class certification motion.

At this stage Appellants have delineated two potential classes, following classes:

Customers of Flint who were presented invoices containing inflated and improper charges, and