THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001449

Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2018-CP-32-00079

FLINT EQUIPMENT COMPANY,..... Respondent,

v.

NORTH EDISTO LOGGING, INC
and PAUL GUNTER,..... Appellants

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
OCT 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

MOORE, CLARKE, DuVALL & RODGERS, P.C.

M. DREW DEMOTT

South Carolina State Bar No. 71653

33 Bull St., Ste. 203

Savannah, Georgia 31401

Telephone: (912) 234-0995

Facsimile: (912) 234-0997

E-Mail: ddemott@mcd-r-law.com

Attorney for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT.

A. RESPONDENT’S RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS’ ARGUMENT 1.

The Trial Court did not err in concluding that a breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing is only actionable if there is also a breach of an express term of the contract.

While every contract includes an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing that neither party will do anything to impair the right of the other to receive the benefits of the agreement, Episcopal Church in S.C. v. Church Ins. Co. of Vermont, 993 F. Supp. 2d 581, 593 (D.S.C. 2014), there is no independent cause of action separate from a claim for breach of contract for the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. RoTec Servs., Inc. v. Encompass Servs., Inc., 359 S.C. 467, 473 (Ct. App. 2004). Thus:

whenever the cooperation of the promisee is necessary for the performance of the promise, there is a condition implied that the cooperation will be given.

[Furthermore,] [w]hen one undertakes to accomplish a certain result he agrees by implication to do everything to accomplish the result intended by the parties.... Moreover, there is an implied undertaking in every contract on the part of each party that he will not intentionally and purposely do anything to prevent the other party from carrying out his part of the agreement, or do anything which will have the effect of destroying or injuring the right of the other party to receive the fruits of the contract.

Burdette v. Turner, No. 2004-UP-059, 2004 WL 6248985, at *4 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2004)(quoting 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 380 (2003)). “[T]here is no breach of an implied covenant of good faith where a party to a contract has done what provisions of the contract expressly gave him the right to do.” Adams v. G.J. Creel & Sons, Inc., 320 S.C. 274, 277 (1995). Further, there is no breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the absence of a contract or privity of contract between the parties. Burdette, 2004 WL 6248985, at *4.

Appellants do not assert the requisite independent, free-standing cause of action for breach of an express term of the contract. They only incorrectly claim breach of contract by breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. In the absence of a separate claim for breach of contract, Appellants’ implied covenant claim cannot stand alone.

1. Respondent could not breach its duty of good faith and fair dealing under the contract to repair Appellants’ 753J Feller Buncher, as pled.

Assuming *arguendo* that Appellants’ implied covenant claim could stand, Appellants admit that Respondent made the requested repairs. (Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaims ¶ 6; R___). Appellants do not allege that Respondent intentionally and purposely did anything to prevent them from carrying out their part of the agreement, or do anything which would destroy or injure their rights to receive the fruits of the contract. In fact, Appellants stand to be unjustly enriched by \$10,483.53, as the value of the received repairs, if their debt under the contract

remains unsatisfied. Because Appellants suffered no damage and received the fruits of the contract (the requested repairs were performed), Respondent did not breach the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. See Burdette, 2004 WL 6248985, at *4. As such, Respondent has done what the contract gives it the right to do; Appellants have alleged no impairment of rights; and Appellants' claims fail.

2. Respondent could not breach its duty of good faith and fair dealing under the contracts for sale of the unrelated 853M and 843L Feller Bunchers, as pled.

As admitted by Appellants and illustrated in those Exhibits "A" and "B" attached to Appellants' Answer and Counterclaim, John Deere Financial was the ultimate lender on the loan transactions. (Appellants' Answer and Counterclaims, ¶¶ 12, 13, and 22, Ex. "A," "B"; R___). Contrary to Appellants' assertion that Respondent "originated" and "subsequently assigned" the loans to John Deere Financial, Exhibits "A" and "B" to the Answer and Counterclaims illustrate that the loan contract was solely between John Deere Financial and Appellants. Respondent merely provided information to Appellants and John Deere Financial. Respondent was not a party to Appellants' loan documents with John Deere Financial. As such, no privity of contract exists between Respondent and Appellants as to the loan contracts. Privity of contract between Respondent and Appellants existed only as to the invoices. Because no privity of contract exists between Respondent and Appellants as to the loan contracts, no implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing exists, and no breach thereof occurred. Burdette, 2004 WL 6248985, at *4.

Even assuming *arguendo* that privity of contract did exist between Respondent and Appellants as to the John Deere Financial and North Edisto loan contracts, Appellants fail to allege that Respondent intentionally and purposely did anything to prevent them from carrying

out their part of the agreement, or do anything which would destroy or injure their rights to receive the fruits of the contract. In fact, Appellants simply allege that the numbers between the invoice and the loan contracts differ, but the total amount of both remained the same. (Appellants' Answer and Counterclaims, ¶ 13; R___). John Deere Financial approved the loan transactions. (Appellants' Answer and Counterclaim, Exhibit "B"; R___). Because Appellants suffered no damage and received the fruits of the contracts (the equipment and financing), Respondent did not breach the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. See Burdette, 2004 WL 6248985, at *4.

3. RoTec controls the analysis and its holding directly contravenes Appellants' position.

Admittedly puzzling to Respondent, Appellants appear to argue in their Initial Brief to this Court that the cases cited by the Trial Court are inapplicable because the facts of those involved two causes of action – 1) for the breach of the contract, and 2) for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. According to Appellants, those cases differ from the facts here because Appellants have asserted a single cause of action for breach of contract. Appellants make the nonsensical argument that the contract was breached *by* Respondent's breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Appellants' mischaracterization of RoTec would transform the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing into an independent, express term of the contract. Semantics aside, this is not the law in South Carolina, nor any of the other jurisdictions the RoTec Court surveyed.

In support of its holding, the RoTec Court looked to its sister jurisdiction of Georgia for guidance. RoTec Services, Inc., 359 S.C. at 471-472. The RoTec Court examined the case of Stuart Enters. Int'l, Inc. v. Peykan, Inc., 252 Ga. App. 231 (2001), which held "[t]he covenant to

perform in good faith is not an independent contract term. It is a doctrine that modifies the meaning of all explicit terms in a contract, preventing a breach of those explicit terms *de facto* when performance is maintained *de jure*.” Stuart Enters. Int’l, Inc., 252 Ga. App. at 234. In adopting that reasoning for South Carolina, the RoTec Court found that the holding was in accord with the law of other jurisdictions that have addressed the question. RoTec Services, Inc., 359 S.C. at 472 (citing Baxter Healthcare Corp. v. O.R. Concepts, Inc., 69 F.3d 785, 792 (7th Cir. 1995), Cambee’s Furniture, Inc. v. Doughboy Recreational, Inc., 825 F.2d 167 (8th Cir. 1987), Designers N. Carpet, Inc. v. Mohawk Indus., Inc., 153 F.Supp. 2d 193, 196 (E.D.N.Y. 2001)). Thus, Appellants’ position directly conflicts with the reasoning behind the RoTec decision. As Appellants fail to point to any express term of the contract that was breached by Respondent (whether in Respondent’s repair invoice or the John Deere Financial/North Edisto loan agreements), the Trial Court did not err in dismissing these claims.

B. RESPONDENT’S RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS’ ARGUMENT 2.

The Trial Court did not err in concluding that Appellants were required to plead their readiness to perform.

“It is an elementary principle that one who seeks to recover damages for the breach of a contract, to which he was a party, must show that the contract has been performed on his part, or at least that he was at the appropriate time able, ready and willing so to perform it.” Parks v. Lyons, 219 S.C. 40, 48 (1951).

Appellants’ do not allege that they have performed or were able, ready and willing to perform. Instead, Appellants make the bald allegation that “Plaintiff’s conduct as outlined above constitutes a breach of contract in that it violates Plaintiff’s duty of good faith and fair dealing.” (Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaims, ¶¶ 19, 22; R___). Appellants admit that they asked

Respondent to provide repairs and that Respondent in fact made the repairs, (Appellants' Answer and Counterclaims, ¶ 6; R___), but do not allege their own performance. As such, they cannot recover damages, and their counterclaims fail.

Appellants cite to no legal authority that would excuse their failure to comply with this requirement. Rather, Appellants posit the unsupported notion that a purchaser's disagreement over the value of goods and services rendered excuses their duty to satisfy the debt. Appellants' arguments here are absurd. Pretermitted Respondent's position that \$10,483.53 is more than a fair price to rebuild the machine's engine on site after Appellants submerged it in a swamp, Appellants have not even alleged they are able, ready and willing to pay a fair price by their own reckoning. As Appellants have not alleged their own required performance for the contract on which they now pursue claims under, the Trial Court did not err in dismissing these claims.

C. RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT 3.

The Trial Court did not err in dismissing Appellants' class action claims.

1. Appellants' class action literally fails to state a cause of action.

Appellants state their "First Counterclaim against Flint Equipment Company" in Paragraphs 15, 16, and 17 of their Answer and Counterclaim. These paragraphs purport to state a claim for "Class Action." However, there is literally no cognizable cause of action. A class action, in and of itself, is not a cause of action. A class action must state an underlying cause of action, which would serve as the basis of the Class Action. Because Appellants' Counterclaim lacks any such cause of action, it must fail.

2. Breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing is not a basis for the Class Action.

As set forth above, under South Carolina law, there is no independent cause of action for breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. Assuming that Appellants intend such claims to serve as the causes of action for the Class Action, the Appellants' Counterclaim fails to state a claim. Even if this was an issue of first impression for this Court, which it is not, the Trial Court's dismissal would still be warranted. When a dispute is not to the underlying facts but as to the interpretation of the law, and development of the record will not aid in the resolution of the issues, it is proper to decide even novel issues on a motion the dismiss. Happy Rabbit v. Alpine Utilities, Inc., No. 2010-UP-558, 2010 WL 10088255 at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 23, 2010).

Further, no privity of contract existed between Respondent and Appellants as to the loan contracts between Appellants and John Deere Financial. Thus, no breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing occurred.

3. Appellants have failed to state sufficient facts to state a claim that meet the five prerequisites of Rule 23.

Rule 23, SCRC, provides the following prerequisites for a class action:

One or more members of a class may sue or be sued as representative parties on behalf of all only if the court finds (1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable [Numerosity], (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class [Commonality], (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class [Typicality], (4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class [Adequacy], and (5) in cases in which the relief primarily sought is not injunctive or declaratory with respect to the class as a whole, the amount in controversy exceeds one hundred dollars for each member of the class.

The proponent of a class action bears the burden of proving the existence of each prerequisite. Gardner v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 353 S.C. 1, 20-21 (2003). The failure to satisfy even one prerequisite is fatal. Id.

To establish Numerosity, a party must show that “the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.” Rule 23, SCRCF. Appellants’ Counterclaims contain no such allegation. Appellants have not pleaded the identity of any other potential class member. Rather, they state that they need “extensive discovery to identify potential members[.]” (Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaim ¶ 16; R___). The failure to satisfy the numerosity prerequisite is fatal to the cause of action for a class action. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 353 S.C. at 21.

“To establish Commonality, a party must show that there are questions of law or fact common to the class ... this means the party must articulate the existence of significant common, legal, or factual issues which bind the proposed class together.” S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 353 S.C. at 21 (2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). First, as set forth more fully above, Appellants’ Counterclaim shows no questions of law at all. Second, Appellants have failed to allege any law or facts common to a potential class. The case arises out of Appellants’ failure to pay Invoice No. W15860 in the amount of \$10,483.53 for repairs Flint made to Appellants’ John Deere 753J Feller Buncher. (Respondent’s Complaint, ¶ 9, 13, and Exhibit “2”; R___). There is certainly no commonality as to that central issue, and the Counterclaim asserts no common issues binding the proposed class together. The predominant issue in this case is analysis of the individual repair invoice between Flint and North Edisto. This case does not arise out of purchase contracts and loan agreements for unrelated equipment. (See Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaims, Ex. “A” and “B”; R___). By introducing these issues into the case, Appellants

destroy any basis for commonality. First, the purchase agreement between Flint and North Edisto for unrelated equipment has no bearing on whether Appellants must pay for the repairs it requested. These purchase agreements attached to Appellants' Answer and Counterclaims do not even concern the 753J Feller Buncher that Respondent repaired. Second, the loan agreements are between John Deere Financial and Appellants – Flint is not even a party to the loan agreements. The failure to satisfy the commonality prerequisite is fatal to the cause of action for a class action. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 353 S.C. at 21.

There is no Typicality. The Counterclaims contain no allegations that the Appellants claims or defenses are typical of the claims or defenses of the purported class. Because the case arises out of the repairs made to Appellants' Feller Buncher, the case will focus on that individualized proof, and typicality is not present. Appellants' defenses to payment for repairs are completely atypical to the purported class. Appellants have not plead any relationship between its defenses to payment for repairs and its implied covenant/class action claims. The same arguments that show no commonality show no typicality. The failure to satisfy this prerequisite is fatal to the cause of action for a class action. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 353 S.C. at 21.

As the Trial Court found, there is no Adequacy. Appellants have not shown that the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class. Appellants have not even plead this, irrespective of the opportunity to conduct "extensive" discovery. In fact, Appellants are not ideal class representatives. They are Respondent's debtors and currently owe Respondent in excess of \$11,000.00. Appellants' interest is in avoiding paying a legitimate debt, which is not a dispute common to any other class member. Appellants' Answer and

Counterclaims appear to be an attempt to make the litigation so costly that Respondent gives up on its legal rights against Respondent. Further, as discussed above, no privity of contract existed between Respondent and Appellants in regard to the loan contracts. Therefore, because Appellants have no legal basis for recovery, they are not adequate class representatives.

Appellants have further failed to allege facts to support damages. Rule 23, SCRPC, states that “in cases in which the relief primarily sought is not injunctive or declaratory with respect to the class as a whole, the amount in controversy exceeds one hundred dollars for each member of the class.” The amount in controversy means “the value of the object to be gained by the suit.” Gardner v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, Inc., 304 S.C. 328, 331 (1991). In the absence of alleging damages, Appellants have failed to state a claim. What’s more, Rule 23, SCRPC, requires the amount in controversy to exceed \$100.00 per member of a class or a damage amount; Appellants failed to satisfy this threshold burden. Appellants did not even allege that *their own* damages are in excess of \$100.00. Appellants admit the overall amount to purchase the equipment did not change. (Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaims, ¶¶ 13, 15-17; R___). Appellants received \$10,483.53 worth of requested repairs that they now refuse to pay for. (Appellants’ Answer and Counterclaims, ¶¶ 6-7; Order, p. 1; R___). Appellants cannot point to a single provision within their Answer and Counterclaims that, taken as true, would show they have suffered \$100.00 in damages. Appellants did not allege this because they simply have not suffered \$100.00 in damages, nor has any other “potential members” of Appellants’ identified classes. The failure to satisfy the amount in controversy prerequisite is fatal to the cause of action for a class action. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 353 S.C. at 21.

Appellants' argument that it is premature to dismiss their class action claims fails on several fronts. Their position ignores the decisions that state just the opposite – that class allegations may be dismissed prior to discovery when discovery will not “alter the central defect in th[e] class claim.” Pilgrim v. Universal Health Card, LLC, 660 F.3d 943, 949 (6th Cir. 2011); Rikos v. Proctor & Gamble Co., 2012 WL641946, at *4 (S.D. Ohio Feb 28, 2012); Sanders v. Apple, Inc., 672 F. Supp. 2d 978, 990 (N.D. Cal. 2009); Thompson v. Merck & Co., No. C.A. 01–1004, 2004 WL 62710, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 6, 2004); see also Fejzulai v. Sam's West, Inc., 205 F.Supp. 3d 723 (D.S.C. 2016) (granting motion to dismiss class action claims where no development of case could change lack of cause of action); Schwartz v. Pella Corp., Nos. 2:14–mn–00001–DCN, 2:14–cv–00556–DCN, 2014 WL 7264948 (D.S.C. Dec. 18, 2014) (granting, in part, motion to dismiss class action claims prior to discovery). Where there is no South Carolina law as to a specific procedural issue, “we look to the construction placed on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure” since South Carolina’s “Rules of Procedure are based on the Federal Rules.” Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, 304 S.C. at 330. Consistent with these holdings, no amount of discovery can remedy Appellants' failure to state a claim that would form the basis of their class action, or their failure to plead facts necessary to pursue a class action under Rule 23, SCRCPP. Thus, discovery will not alter these central defects in Appellants' claims here.

Most of the above cited decisions were discussed at length in Respondent's initial Motion to Dismiss, Subpart B(4), and are again addressed *infra*. Although the Trial Court did not cite to these decisions in its Order, they nevertheless were considered and form the foundation of the Court's reasoning here. In short, there is nothing improper about dismissal of Appellants' class

action claims “at an early stage” of litigation when the purported class action so plainly lacks any one essential element as plead. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 353 S.C. at 20-21.

4. Appellants’ Class Action claim should also be stricken under SCRPC Rule 12(f) and as permitted under Rule 23(d)(1).

“As soon as practicable, after the commencement of an action brought as a class action, the court shall determine by order whether it is to be so maintained.” Rule 23(d)(1), SCRPC. Under these circumstances—where Appellants’ own allegations render certification of a class an impossibility—an Order striking Appellants’ class allegations is an appropriate remedy. See Rikos, 2012 WL641946, at *3 (“[C]lass action allegations may be stricken prior to motion for class certification where the complaint itself demonstrates that the requirements for maintaining a class action cannot be met”); Sanders, 672 F. Supp. at 990 (“Where the complaint demonstrates that a class action cannot be maintained on the facts alleged, a defendant may move to strike class allegations prior to discovery.”); Thompson, 2004 WL 62710, at *5 (“[P]laintiffs argue that this court lacks authority to strike class action allegations from the complaint until after the plaintiffs have filed a motion for class certification. We do not agree.”).

The United States Supreme Court has acknowledged, “[s]ometimes the issues are plain enough from the pleadings . . . and sometimes it may be necessary for the court to probe behind the pleadings before coming to rest on the [class] certification question.” Gen. Tel. Co. of Southwest v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 160 (1982). Here, the impossibility of the case proceeding is plain enough on the pleadings. If the specific grounds upon which the Trial Court ruled were not enough, the class allegations should nevertheless be stricken pursuant to Rule 12(f), SCRPC. “A motion to strike under Rule 12(f), SCRPC, which challenges a theory of recovery in the complaint, is in the nature of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC.” Grazia v. S.C.

State Plastering, LLC, 390 S.C. 562, 567 (2010). Thus, the standards outlined above apply equally to a motion to strike under Rule 12(f), SCRCF. See id. A motion to strike under Rule 12(f), SCRCF, is appropriate for insufficient defenses or any immaterial or impertinent matter. Rule 12(f), SCRCF. Because Appellants' allegations are insufficient and no class exists for certification, Appellants' class allegations are immaterial, impertinent and should be stricken pursuant to Rule 12(f), SCRCF.

This issue is not merely academic. Absent dismissal, the parties and Court will be compelled to devote significant time and expense to class discovery, class certification briefing, and class certification hearings before even getting to the merits of the legitimate legal issues involved in this case. To prevent the imposition of this needless burden on itself and the parties, the Trial Court correctly dismissed Appellants' class allegations. See 35A C.J.S. Fed. Civ. P. § 469 ("Rule 12(f) reflects an inherent power of the courts to reduce pleadings, to expedite the administration of justice, and . . . ensure prompt disposition of legal actions"); Id. at § 470 ("The motion to strike . . . saves the time and money that would be spent litigating spurious issues that will not affect the outcome of a case . . ."). Furthermore, because Respondent is not a party to the loan contracts, Appellants have failed to join an indispensable party to their counterclaims. John Deere Financial must be joined if the Court permits the class allegations to continue. Rules 12 and 19, SCRCF. Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests the Court to affirm the Trial Court's dismissal of Appellants' class allegations.

D. AN ADDITIONAL RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS' ARGUMENTS.

Should this Court find Respondent's foregoing arguments are not conclusive as to these issues, Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the Trial Court's ruling on any ground appearing on the record as provided by SCACR Rule 220(c).

VI. CONCLUSION.

Respondent respectfully requests the Court to affirm the Trial Court's Order dismissing each and every counterclaim asserted by Appellants in their Answer and Counterclaims; and that the Court grant such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.